## if when how

Lawyering for Reproductive Justice

# Maternal and Infant Health & Mortality

### Contents

INTRODUCTION	3
MATERNAL HEALTH AND MORTALITY	3
"Near Misses"	3
Medical interventions	3
REPRODUCTIVE AND HUMAN RIGHTS AT R	RISK 4
DISPARITIES IN MATERNAL HEALTH	4
INFANT HEALTH AND MORTALITY	5
Causes of Infant Mortality	5
DISPARITIES IN INFANT HEALTH	5
RELATED ISSUES	6
Young Parents	6
Pregnancy and Violence	6
Pregnancy and POVERTY	7
PROMISING POLICIES	7
Global Attention	7
Healthcare Reform	7
New Programs for Families The Role of Midwives	8
The Role of Midwives	8



#### INTRODUCTION

If/When/How recognizes that most law school courses are not applying an intersectional, reproductive justice lens to complex issues. To address this gap, our issue briefs and primers are designed to illustrate how law and policies disparately impact individuals and communities. If/When/How is committed to transforming legal education by providing students, instructors, and practitioners with the tools and support they need to utilize an intersectional approach.

If/When/How, formerly Law Students for Reproductive Justice, trains, networks, and mobilizes law students and legal professionals to work within and beyond the legal system to champion reproductive justice. We work in partnership with local organizations and national movements to ensure all people have the ability to decide if, when, and how to create and sustain a family.

#### MATERNAL HEALTH AND MORTALITY

Maternal mortality is defined as the death of a woman during pregnancy, childbirth, or in the 42 days after delivery.<sup>1</sup> Over half of maternal deaths occur within 42 days of giving birth.<sup>2</sup>

- The United States, as reported in 2014, had the second-highest maternal mortality ratio among the 31 members of the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development.<sup>3</sup>
- In 1987, the first year for which there is data, the maternal mortality rate for women in the U.S. was 7.2 deaths per 100,000 live births.<sup>4</sup> It has continued to rise each year.<sup>5</sup> Most recent data from the World Health Organization indicates the maternal mortality rate for American women was between 12-16 deaths per 100,000 live births.<sup>6</sup>
- As of 2016, approximately 830 women die from pregnancy- or childbirth-related complications around the world every day.<sup>7</sup> Maternal mortality is higher among women living in rural areas and poor communities. In the U.S., over 700 to 900 women die each year as a result of pregnancy or delivery complications.<sup>8</sup>
- The reduction of worldwide maternal mortality is part of the United Nations' Millennium Project.<sup>9</sup> Millennium Development Goal 5A was to reduce by 75%, between 1990 and 2015, the world's maternal mortality ratio.<sup>10</sup> During that time, the maternal mortality ratio fell by 45%, with 26 countries having less than a 25% reduction in the maternal mortality ratio.<sup>11</sup>
  - Nigeria and India accounted for approximately one-third of all maternal deaths worldwide in 2015, with approximately 58,000 and 45,000 maternal deaths, respectively.<sup>12</sup>
  - Nine countries that had maternal mortality ratios of >100 in 1990 are now categorized as having "achieved"
    Millennium Development Goal 5A, achieving a reduction of at least 75% between 1990 and 2015: Bhutan, Cambodia, Cabo Verde, the Islamic Republic of Iran, the Lao People's Democratic Republic, Maldives, Mongolia, Rwanda, and Timor-Leste.<sup>13</sup>

#### "NEAR MISSES"

Mortality rates do not tell the whole story. Each year, almost 34,000 women worldwide suffer a complication so severe – known as a "near miss," "severe maternal morbidity," or "severe obstetric morbidity"– that they *nearly* die during childbirth.<sup>14</sup>

- In the U.S., approximately 65,000 women nearly die from pregnancy or childbirth each year.<sup>15</sup>
- Additionally, more than one-third (1.7 million) of all women giving birth in the U.S. suffer pregnancy complications that have adverse health effects.<sup>16</sup>

#### MEDICAL INTERVENTIONS

Women in the U.S. are often subject to more medical intervention during labor and delivery than in other developed countries, resulting in an increase in cost and injury.<sup>17</sup> Unnecessary medical intervention during labor and delivery in the U.S. includes the rising rate of elective Cesarean sections (c-sections), which carry a greater risk of severe complication

and death than vaginal births. Risk of injury caused by such medical intervention includes risk of infection, hysterectomy, kidney failure, and life threatening blood clots.<sup>18</sup>

- C-sections also result in greater risks for future pregnancy, including increased risk of placenta previa.<sup>19</sup>
- $\bullet$  The cesarean delivery rate increased from 26% to 36.5% between 2003 and 2009.<sup>20</sup>
- In 2015, the preliminary U.S. national cesarean rate was 32% of all births.<sup>21</sup> This is a slight drop from the national peak of 32.9% in 2009.<sup>22</sup> In contrast, the World Health Organization recommends c-sections only be used for 10-15% of births.<sup>23</sup>
- Most developed nations have a similar or slightly lower cesarean rate, and most countries in the world do not have a cesarean rate that falls within the WHO's target range.<sup>24</sup>

#### **REPRODUCTIVE AND HUMAN RIGHTS AT RISK**

According to Amnesty International, nearly half of all U.S. maternal deaths "could have been prevented if maternal health care were available, accessible, and of good quality for all women in the USA."<sup>25</sup> This includes prenatal, childbirth, and postpartum care.<sup>26</sup>

- Basic obstetric care "required to prevent most maternal deaths is not complicated" and "health centers in developing countries should be able to provide most of the [basic] services, and district hospitals should be providing [comprehensive] services."<sup>27</sup>
- In the 2006 Listening to Mothers II survey, U.S. mothers reported experiencing pressure from a health professional to have labor induction (11%), epidural analgesia (7%), and c-section (9%).<sup>28</sup> Most mothers felt that all (78-81% of those surveyed) or most (17-19% of those surveyed) complications for these interventions should be disclosed.<sup>29</sup> The survey found that whether mothers had the intervention or not, most had an incorrect understanding of the complications or were not sure about them.<sup>30</sup> Concerningly, the great majority (73%) of mothers who experienced episiotomy (an incision in the perineum) stated that they did not have a choice in this decision.<sup>31</sup>
- The U.S. has no nationally-implemented comprehensive guidelines and protocols for maternal health care and for preventing and managing obstetric emergencies.<sup>32</sup> This results in significant variation of care from hospital to hospital and state to state in obstetrics practice and use of procedures across the country.<sup>33</sup>
- At least 28 states currently have or are forming Maternal Mortality Review Committees.<sup>34</sup> However, 29 states and the District of Columbia lack a maternal mortality review committee.<sup>35</sup> Maternal mortality review committees work to identify patterns and trends in maternal deaths, make recommendations to improve maternal health, and improve coordination with federal government agencies to prioritize maternal health.<sup>36</sup> The CDC, the Association of Maternal and Child Health Programs, and the CDC Foundation are currently collaborating to enhance maternal mortality review and create linkage between Review Committees across jurisdictional lines.<sup>37</sup>
- In 2014 and 2017, federal lawmakers attempted to pass the Maternal Health Accountability Act.<sup>38</sup> Most recently, the act was introduced in the Senate, read twice, and was later referred to the Committee on Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions.<sup>39</sup> Since that time, neither chamber voted on the bill. The Maternal Health Accountability Act was introduced to help establish a mortality review board in every state, fight disparities with new research and pilot programs, and develop definitions of severe maternal morbidity (complications) to improve data collection and maternal health research.<sup>40</sup>
- The Health Equity and Accountability Act of 2016, H.R. 5475, was introduced to Congress in June 2016 but was never enacted.<sup>41</sup> It sought to improve access by removing barriers to healthcare for minorities including the establishment of state maternal mortality review committees. The committees would have developed a confidential process for reporting maternal death, identifying maternal mortality trends and factors, and investigating individual maternal deaths.

#### **DISPARITIES IN MATERNAL HEALTH**

Experts have pointed to racial and economic disparities in healthcare as a leading cause of maternal mortality in the U.S.<sup>42</sup> For example:

• Three to four times as many Black women die from pregnancy than white women.<sup>43</sup> In New York City alone in 2008, one Black woman died about every 1,200 live births.<sup>44</sup> The Center for Research and Policy in the Public Interest conducted a study that found that "black women face a maternal mortality rate of 79 deaths per 100,000 live births, compared to 10 per 100,000 live births for white women."<sup>45</sup>



- Non-Hispanic Black, American Indian/ Alaskan Native, and Hawaiian/other Pacific Islander women have the lowest rates of receiving early prenatal care (63.6%, 59.4%, and 54.7% respectively), while non-Hispanic white and non-Hispanic Asian women have the highest rates of prenatal care (79.0% and 78.0% respectively).<sup>46</sup>
- People with high-risk pregnancies are 5.3 times more likely to die if they do not receive prenatal care.47
- Although women of color make up only 36.3% of women in the U.S., they account for 53.2% of uninsured women.48
- Black women residing in southern states are particularly at risk of maternal mortality.<sup>49</sup> In addition, high rates of maternal mortality among southern Black women persist regardless of class or education status.
- In 2014, Black women in Georgia faced a maternal mortality ratio of 90.3 pregnancy-related deaths per 100,000 live births. In 2012,<sup>50</sup> Black women made up 68% of pregnancy-related deaths in Georgia.
- Although Black women only make up 11% of Texas' population, they accounted for 29% of the state's maternal deaths between 2011 and 2012.<sup>51</sup> When discharged from a pregnancy-related hospital stay, Black women in Texas are at twice the risk of dying than women of other races or ethnicities.
- In 2012, a study found that Black women in Louisiana faced a maternal mortality ratio of 119.1 pregnancy-related deaths per 100,000 live births.<sup>52</sup> In addition, Black women in Louisiana are more likely to suffer non-fatal maternal complications at 1.1 to 1.2 times the rate as White women.
- Obstacles preventing marginalized people from accessing healthcare include institutionalized racism, discrimination (including on the basis of national origin), lack of information, logistics (child care, transportation), financial and language barriers, the bureaucracy involved in Medicaid coverage (lack of prenatal care reimbursement and doctors refusing to treat low-income women), and lack of ability to adequately participate in reproductive health decisions.<sup>53</sup>

#### INFANT HEALTH AND MORTALITY

Infant mortality is one of the most important indicators of the health of a nation, as it is associated with a variety of factors such as maternal health, quality and access to medical care, socioeconomic conditions, and public health practices.<sup>54</sup> • The infant mortality rate is the rate at which babies less than one year of age die.<sup>55</sup>

• Although most newborns grow and thrive, six out of every 100,000 babies in the U.S. die within their first year after birth.<sup>56</sup> Among the 39 "advanced economy" nations, as classified by the International Monetary Fund (IMF),<sup>57</sup> the U.S. ranks third highest for 2015 infant mortality rate.<sup>58</sup>

#### CAUSES OF INFANT MORTALITY

High rates of premature birth are the main reason the U.S. has higher infant mortality compared to many other developed countries.<sup>59</sup>

- After decades of increases, the rate of premature birth has now been on a steady decline for the last several years to a current rate of 9.6% of U.S. births.<sup>60</sup> Despite this progress, 380,000 premature babies are born each year.<sup>61</sup> Worldwide, 15 million babies are born prematurely.<sup>62</sup>
- Low birth weight is a leading cause of infant mortality in the U.S., and infants with low birth weight are at increased risk of immediate life-threatening health problems as well as long-term complications and developmental delays.<sup>63</sup>
- An increase in c-sections and labor-inducing drugs to deliver babies before they are full term may contribute to premature newborns.<sup>64</sup>
- Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (SIDS), the unexpected death of an infant less than one year of age that cannot be explained, is the leading cause of infant death,<sup>65</sup> despite significant declines in SIDS rates since 1990.<sup>66</sup> Infant mortality rates for SIDS, congenital malformations, and unintentional injuries have been substantially higher for non-Hispanic Black than for non-Hispanic white women.<sup>67</sup>

#### **DISPARITIES IN INFANT HEALTH**

Infant mortality rates differ largely by race and ethnicity. Non-Hispanic Black, American Indian and Alaskan Native, and Puerto Rican women have the highest infant mortality rates.<sup>68</sup> Infant mortality rates are lowest for Asian and Pacific Islander, Central and South American, and Cuban American women.<sup>69</sup>



- Black infants have 2.2 times the infant mortality rate as non-Hispanic whites.<sup>70</sup> Black infants are 3.5 times as likely to die due to complications related to low birth weight, as compared to non-Hispanic White infants.<sup>71</sup>
- The rate of preterm birth among Black women (13%) was about 50% higher than the rate of preterm birth among white women (9%).<sup>72</sup>
- Black infants had just under two times the SIDS mortality rate as non-Hispanic Whites in 2013.<sup>73</sup>
- The percentage of mothers who received late (after first trimester) or no entry into prenatal care is 25.8% for non-Hispanic Black mothers compared with 12% of non-Hispanic White mothers.<sup>74</sup>
- Racial discrimination plays a dominant role in infant mortality.<sup>75</sup>
- More segregated cities have greater Black to White infant mortality disparities. In addition, women whose babies are born drastically underweight are more likely to report experiences of discrimination.<sup>76</sup>
- Constant sources of stress throughout a person's lifetime, such as racial discrimination, raise cortisol levels and trigger inflammatory responses.<sup>77</sup> These factors result in premature labor and the restriction of blood flow to the placenta, which stunts infant growth. The effects of discrimination influence a pregnant person's allostatic load the cumulative wear and tear on the body's systems.<sup>78</sup> According to an article in the American Journal of Public Health, "these effects may be felt particularly by Black women because of [gender and racial discrimination]."
- Some examples of discrimination that influence allostatic load include disparities in the criminal justice system, education, and predatory lending as well as personal experiences such as the unequal treatment of Black patients in doctors' offices as compared to white patients.<sup>79</sup>

#### **RELATED ISSUES**

#### YOUNG PARENTS

Worldwide, about sixteen million girls aged 15 to 19 and some one million girls under 15 give birth every year—most in low- and middle-income countries.<sup>80</sup> There has been a marked, although uneven, decrease in the birth rates among adolescent girls since 1990, but some 11% of all births worldwide are still to girls aged 15 to 19 years old.<sup>81</sup> In 2015, a total of 229,715 babies were born to women aged 15-19 years, equaling a birth rate of 22.3 per 1,000 women in this age group. This is an 8% drop from the birth rate among teens in 2014. However, the U.S. teen pregnancy rate is much higher than in other western, industrialized nations. In addition, racial/ethnic and geographic disparities in teen birth rates persist.<sup>82</sup>

- Teenage mothers are less likely to receive adequate prenatal care than older mothers, which may result in major pregnancy-related complications.<sup>83</sup> Mothers who do not receive prenatal care are three times as likely to give birth to a low-weight baby, meaning infant mortality is five times more likely to occur.<sup>84</sup>
- Key risk factors that increase the likelihood of teen pregnancy are living in poverty, limited maternal educational achievement, having a mother who gave birth before the age of 20, being from a single-parent home, living in a home with frequent family conflict, early sexual activity, early use of alcohol and drugs, and low self-esteem. <sup>85</sup>
- Rather than being linked solely to the age of the mother, most health risks for young mothers and their children stem from social, economic, and cultural exclusion.<sup>86</sup> Stigma associated with teen motherhood can also impact health and social disparities and impede effective clinical care.<sup>87</sup> According to the National Latina Institute for Reproductive Health, "the current discourse surrounding young motherhood is both stigmatizing and insensitive, and presents young motherhood as a problem in itself as opposed to the real problems that often surround it, such as poverty and lack of access to timely and high quality health care services and education opportunities."<sup>88</sup>

#### PREGNANCY AND VIOLENCE

• Women with unintended pregnancies are four times more likely to experience violence from their intimate partner than women with wanted pregnancies.<sup>89</sup>

- Pregnant and recently pregnant women are more likely to be homicide victims than to die of any other cause; however, exact numbers are impossible to determine since neither the definition of maternal death or the ratio used to determine maternal mortality includes death due to domestic violence.<sup>90</sup>
- The risk of unintended pregnancy increases significantly if a woman has been the victim of domestic abuse.<sup>91</sup> Today, high rates of domestic violence and disproportionately high rates of maternal mortality are recognized as critical issues in global health.<sup>92</sup>
- A study conducted by the University of Michigan has associated the abuse of pregnant women with emotional and behavioral trauma symptoms in children in their first year of life.<sup>93</sup>

#### PREGNANCY AND POVERTY

- Welfare family caps, sometimes called "maximum family grant" rules, prevent women on welfare from receiving additional money if they have more children. As of 2016, 17 states have some version of a family cap in place.<sup>94</sup>
- The following common misconceptions drive support for family caps: 1) women on welfare are motivated to have children for financial gain; 2) women on welfare have more children than parents in the general population; and 3) caps will somehow cause welfare recipients to have fewer children.<sup>95</sup>
- Researchers and organizations have studied the effects of welfare family caps, and found that they do not lower the number of children born to welfare recipients, but have increased the poverty rate of families already on welfare.<sup>96</sup>
- Children raised in poverty are more likely to engage in criminal activity and are at substantially higher risk for developmental challenges and poor health, which continues into adulthood.<sup>97</sup>
- Advocates are working to repeal harmful family cap policies, and several states are beginning to or have repealed their cap rules in response.<sup>98</sup>

#### **PROMISING POLICIES**

#### **GLOBAL ATTENTION**

• The U.S. failed to meet its 2010 goals calling for a 50% reduction in maternal mortality and actually worsened its maternal mortality rates by the 2010 Healthy People initiative.<sup>99</sup> The U.S. revised its goals for 2020 and is aiming for a 10% reduction in infant mortality and a 10% reduction in maternal mortality.<sup>100</sup> Another primary goal is to ensure 77% of women have access to "early and adequate" prenatal care.<sup>101</sup>

#### HEALTHCARE REFORM

The Affordable Care Act (ACA), which was signed into law in March 2010 by President Obama, seeks to increase access and affordability of health care insurance and coverage for uninsured pregnant women.<sup>102</sup>

- The ACA provides protection for childbearing women and newborns with the inclusion of maternal and newborn care in a defined package of "essential health benefits." The ACA would also improve access to preventive services, including comprehensive counseling and support and access to supplies for breastfeeding and nursing women, folic acid supplements for women who may become pregnant, and screening for gestational diabetes.<sup>103</sup>
- Beginning in 2014 "essential" services must be covered in policies available through insurance exchanges.<sup>104</sup> Furthermore, the ACA assigns a phased-in elimination of "pre-existing condition" clauses which exclude persons from coverage and treatment.<sup>105</sup> This is particularly important for pregnant women seeking insurance and for women with health issues that might cause an increased risk of maternal mortality because some insurance companies consider pregnancy and/or prior c-section births a pre-existing condition.<sup>106</sup>For example, untreated diabetes is linked to an increased risk of miscarriage and developing preeclampsia.<sup>107</sup>

- The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 prevents insurers from applying pre-existing condition clauses to pregnancy, but the Act does not apply to individual insurance plans, only group employer plans.<sup>108</sup>
- A Republican majority is currently working to "repeal and replace" the Affordable Care Act. Repeal and replace efforts have taken many iterations.<sup>109</sup> However, each proposal would increase the number of uninsured by more than 20 million people in 10 years. In addition, each of the six versions of the bill would make deep cuts to Medicaid. <sup>110</sup>

#### **NEW PROGRAMS FOR FAMILIES**

The ACA also created two new programs for child bearing families, the Maternal, Infant and Early Childhood Home Visiting Program and the Pregnancy Assistance Fund.<sup>111</sup>

- Maternal, Infant and Early Childhood Home Visiting Program: Awards grants for services in at-risk communities, with a focus on strengthening families and community resources and improving maternal and newborn health, child health, and school readiness.<sup>112</sup> According to the Health Resources & Services Administration, all 50 states, the District of Columbia and six jurisdictions, have received grants for evidence-based home visiting programs.<sup>113</sup>
- Pregnancy Assistance Fund: Provides grants to states and tribes to help support pregnant and parenting teens and women who are enrolled in higher education programs with child care, housing, baby supplies and food, and other support and protective services.<sup>114</sup> The act also provides grants to organizations to provide personal responsibility education to young people to reduce pregnancy and sexually transmitted infection rates by delaying sexual activity and increasing contraceptive use when sexually active.<sup>115</sup> Since 2010, 27 states and 4 tribal entities developed and implemented programs through the Pregnancy Assistance Fund. Most recently, fifteen states and one tribal entity were funded in July 2017.116
- Community Health Centers: The ACA provides \$11 billion for Community Health Centers, an important health care access point for undocumented immigrants and uninsured people.<sup>117</sup> In 2015, the Department of Health and Human Services announced it would receive \$101 million in ACA funding for 164 new health center sites.<sup>118</sup> To date, the ACA has supported renovation and construction projects on hundreds of health centers, and has created more than 550 new health centers across the country.<sup>119</sup> These health centers will provide and ensure primary health care to underserved communities. They are critical in helping people sign up for health insurance through the Marketplace and have helped more than 9 million individuals become insured since 2009.<sup>120</sup>

#### THE ROLE OF MIDWIVES

In the U.S. in 1989, the first year for which data is available, 3% of births were attended by a midwife instead of an obstetrician.<sup>121</sup> In 2013, the most recent year for which data is available, the number was close to 9%.<sup>122</sup>

- Planned homebirths attended by a midwife are associated with fewer maternal interventions than planned hospital birth, but are also associated with more than a twofold increased risk of perinatal death and a threefold increased risk of neonatal seizures or serious neurologic dysfunction.<sup>123</sup>
- Midwives often offer life-saving postpartum care that traditional hospitals do not, including home visits the first ten days after birth.<sup>124</sup> Women cared for by certified nurse-midwives (CNMs) are less likely to experience a cesarean delivery or episiotomy.125
- Midwife led births held a c-section rate well below the national average, at 9.3%.<sup>126</sup> Women who gave birth with a midwife were also more likely to breast feed, with a national average of 85.3% of women breastfeeding within the first 48 hours of life.127
- Compared with women who planned a hospital birth, benefits of a planned home birth include lower rates of maternal morbidity, such as postpartum hemorrhage, and perineal lacerations.<sup>128</sup> Women who have a planned home birth have high rates of satisfaction related to home being a more comfortable environment and feeling more control of the experience.129

- Certified nurse-midwives (CNMs) tend to serve not only childbearing women, but women in all stages of life.<sup>130</sup> A survey from Massachusetts shows that a substantial number of CNMs care for young women (under 20 years of age), recent immigrants, and women whose first language is not English.<sup>131</sup> A significant amount of CNMs noted that a significant proportion of their reimbursement comes through government-assisted health care.<sup>132</sup>
- In New York State the Midwifery Modernization Act passed in 2010.<sup>133</sup> New York's maternal mortality ratio is higher than the national average and both rural and urban areas face shortages of health care providers, including obstetric providers.<sup>134</sup> New legislation, New York's Midwifery Modernization Act, will improve access to quality maternal care, particularly for women in medically underserved areas by allowing licensed midwives to practice to the full extent of their training.<sup>135</sup>
- Despite reduced rates of complication compared to births attended by physicians, midwives face many barriers to practicing.<sup>136</sup> In many states, midwives must enter collaborative prescribing agreements with physicians in order to have access to prescriptions for their patients,<sup>137</sup> despite examining, ordering and interpreting tests, and diagnosing and treating patients independently.<sup>138</sup>
- Under the ACA, however, birth centers and midwife care have been added as mandatory Medicaid services, and many hope for the expansion of midwife services in the near future.<sup>139</sup>

- <sup>2</sup> Jeani Chang et al., *Pregnancy-Related Mortality Surveillance*, 52 Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Rep. 1 (2003), <u>http://www.cdc.gov/Mmwr/preview/mmwrhtml/ss5202a1.htm;</u> Donna L. Hoyert, *Maternal Mortality and Related Concepts*, 3 VITAL & HEALTH STATISTICS 2 (June 2007), <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/series/sr\_03/sr03\_033.pdf</u> (noting that, starting in 1979, "the time frame required for designation of a maternal death [is] restricted to within 42 days of the end of a pregnancy").
- <sup>3</sup> America's Shocking Maternal Deaths, N.Y. TIMES (Sept. 3, 2016), http://www.nytimes.com/2016/09/04/opinion/sunday/americas-shockingmaternal-deaths.html?\_r=0.

<sup>4</sup>Reproductive Health: Pregnancy Mortality Surveillance System, CTRS. FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION,

http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/maternalinfanthealth/pmss.html (last updated Jan. 21, 2016).

- <sup>6</sup> Maternal Health Mortality Ratio (2015), WORLD HEALTH ORG., <u>http://gamapserver.who.int/gho/interactive\_charts/mdg5\_mm/atlas.html</u> (last updated Mar. 27, 2017).
- <sup>7</sup> Maternal Mortality, WORLD HEALTH ORG. (Nov. 2016), http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs348/en/.
- <sup>8</sup> Nina Martin & Renee Montagne, Focus on Infants During Childbirth Leaves U.S. Moms in Danger, NPR: MORNING EDITION (May 12, 2017, 5:00 AM), http://www.npr.org/2017/05/12/527806002/focus-on-infants-during-childbirth-leaves-u-s-moms-in-danger.
- <sup>9</sup> About the MDGs, UN MILLENNIUM PROJECT, http://www.unmillenniumproject.org/goals/ (last visited July 13, 2017).
- <sup>10</sup> United Nations Millennium Development Goals, UNITED NATIONS, <u>http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/maternal.shtml</u> (last visited July 13, 2017).
- <sup>11</sup> Trends in Maternal Mortality: 1990 to 2015, WORLD HEALTH ORG., 23, 24 (2015), http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/194254/1/9789241565141\_eng.pdf?ua=1.

- <sup>14</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY: THE MATERNAL HEALTH CARE CRISIS IN THE USA ONE YEAR UPDATE, AMNESTY INT'L 6 (Spring 2011), <u>http://www.amnestyusa.org/sites/default/files/deadlydeliveryoneyear.pdf</u> [hereinafter DEADLY DELIVERY ONE YEAR UPDATE].
- <sup>15</sup> Nina Martin & Renee Montagne, Focus on Infants During Childbirth Leaves U.S. Moms in Danger, NPR: MORNING EDITION (May 12, 2017, 5:00 AM), <u>http://www.npr.org/2017/05/12/527806002/focus-on-infants-during-childbirth-leaves-u-s-moms-in-danger</u>.
- <sup>16</sup> Deadly Delivery: the Maternal Health Crisis in the USA, AMNESTY INT'L 1 (2010), <u>http://www.amnestyusa.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/deadlydelivery.pdf</u> [hereinafter Deadly Delivery].
- <sup>17</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY ONE YEAR UPDATE, *supra* note 14, at 8.

- <sup>20</sup> Emma L. Barber et al., *Indications Contributing to the Increasing Cesarean Delivery Rate*, 118 OBSTETRICS & GYNECOLOGY (July 2011), http://journals.lww.com/greenjournal/Abstract/2011/07000/Indications\_Contributing\_to\_the\_Increasing.5.aspx.
- <sup>21</sup> JOYCE A. MARTIN ET AL., CTRS. FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION, BIRTHS: FINAL DATA FOR 2015, 66 NATIONAL VITAL STATISTICS REPORTS 1, 2 (Jan. 5, 2017), http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr66/nvsr66\_01.pdf.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Health Statistics and Information Systems: Maternity Morality Ratio (Per 100,000 Live Births), WORLD HEALTH ORG., <u>http://www.who.int/healthinfo/statistics/indmaternalmortality/en/</u> (last visited July 13, 2017).

⁵ Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> *Id.* at xi.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> *Id.* at 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Id.

<sup>22</sup> Id.

- <sup>23</sup>Anna Almendrala, U.S. C-Section Rate is Double What WHO Recommends, HUFFINGTON POST (Apr. 16, 2015, 10:58 AM), http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2015/04/14/c-section-rate-recommendation\_n\_7058954.html.
- <sup>24</sup> Brazil Isn't the Only Country With A Startlingly High C-Section Rate, HUFFINGTON POST (Apr. 25, 2014, 4:31 PM),
- http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2014/04/16/c-section-rates\_n\_5161162.html.

28 Id. See also Proposed Healthy People 2020 Objectives: Maternal, Infant, and Child Health, Dep't Health & Human Serv.,

http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/maternal-infant-and-child-health/objectives (last updated July 21, 2016) (Resources describing newly proposed government objectives for improving maternal, infant, and child heath include increasing the percentage of women receiving postpartum care).

<sup>27</sup> Alicia Ely Yamin & Deborah P. Maine, *Maternal Mortality as a Human Rights Issue: Measuring Compliance with International Treaty Obligations*, 21 HUM. RTs. Q. 563, 573 (1999) (finding that in the 1990s, the lifetime risk of dying from pregnancy or childbirth-related causes in North America was 1 in 3700).

<sup>28</sup> Eugene R. Declercq et al., Listening to Mothers II: Report of the Second National U.S. Survey of Women's Childbearing Experiences, CHILDBIRTH CONNECTION 13 (2006), http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2174380/pdf/JPE160009.pdf.

<sup>29</sup> Id.

<sup>30</sup> Id.

<sup>31</sup> Id.

<sup>32</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY ONE YEAR UPDATE, *supra* note 14, at 8.

<sup>33</sup> Id. at 7-8.

- <sup>34</sup> Building U.S. Capacity to Review and Prevent Maternal Deaths, AM. CONG. OF OBSTETRICIANS AND GYNECOLOGISTS (Mar. 2017), http://www.acog.org/-/media/Departments/Government-Relations-and-Outreach/2017-CLC/2017-CLC-Recommended-Readings/Ask-1-Maternal-Mortality/2017BldgCapacityforMMROverview.pdf?dmc=1&ts=20170309T1458108720.
- <sup>35</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY ONE YEAR UPDATE, supra note 14, at 24.

<sup>36</sup> *Id.* at 11–12.

- <sup>37</sup> Supra note 34.
- <sup>38</sup> H.R.4216 113th Congress (2013-2014): Maternal Health Accountability Act of 2014, LIBR. OF CONG., <u>http://www.congress.gov/bill/113th-congress/house-bill/4216</u> (last visited July 12, 2017); S.112 115th Congress (2017-2018): Maternal Health Accountability Act of 2017, LIBR. OF CONG., <u>http://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/1112</u> (last visited July 12, 2017).
- <sup>39</sup> S.112 115th Congress (2017-2018): Maternal Health Accountability Act of 2017, LIBR. OF CONG., <u>http://www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/1112</u> (last visited July 12, 2017).

<sup>40</sup> Id.

- <sup>41</sup> H.R. 5475 114th Congress (2015-2016): Health Equity and Accountability Act, LIBR. OF CONG., <u>http://www.congress.gov/bill/114th-congress/house-bill/5475</u>.
- <sup>42</sup> Francine Coeytaux et al., Maternal Mortality in the United States: A Human Rights Failure, Ass'N oF REPROD. HEALTH PROF'L (Mar. 2011), <u>http://www.arhp.org/publications-and-resources/contraception-journal/march-2011</u> [hereinafter FRANCINE COEYTAUX].
- <sup>43</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY ONE YEAR UPDATE, supra note 14, at 7. See also Black-White Disparities in Maternal Mortality, FLA. DEP'T OF HEALTH, 1 (2015), http://www.floridahealth.gov/programs-and-services/womens-health/pregnancy/4\_\_2015-title-v-brief-bw-disparities-in-maternal-mortalityfinal-11-06-2014.pdf.
- <sup>44</sup> Malena Amusa, NYC's Rising Black Maternal Mortality Unexplained, WENEws (Apr. 18, 2010), <u>http://www.womensenews.org/story/reproductive-health/100416/nycs-rising-black-maternal-mortality-unexplained</u> (showing 70 deaths per 100,000 live births, compared to 10 per 100,000 for white women). See also Anemona Hartocollis, High Rate for Deaths of Pregnant Women in New York State, N.Y. TIMES at A16 (June 18, 2010), <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2010/06/19/nyregion/19obese.html</u>.
- <sup>45</sup> C. Nicole Mason, *Economic Security and Well-Being Index for Women in New York City*, THE N.Y. WOMEN'S FOUND., 5 (Mar. 2013), http://cr2pi.org/wpcontent/uploads/2013/05/New-York-Womens-Foundation-Report.pdf.
- <sup>46</sup> Child Health USA 2014, U.S. DEP'T OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERV., 76 (Mar. 2015), http://mchb.hrsa.gov/chusa14/dl/chusa14.pdf.
- <sup>47</sup> FRANCINE COEYTAUX, supra note 43, at 190.
- <sup>48</sup> FARAH AHMAD & SARAH IVERSON, CTR. FOR AM. PROGRESS, THE STATE OF WOMEN OF COLOR IN THE UNITED STATES 18 (Oct. 2013), http://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/StateOfWomenColor-1.pdf.
- <sup>49</sup> Dr. Joia Crear Perry, The Black Maternal Mortality Rate in the US is an International Crisis, THE ROOT (Sept. 30, 2016, 5:56 AM), http://www.theroot.com/the-black-maternal-mortality-rate-in-the-us-is-an-inter-1790857011.
- <sup>50</sup> Maternal Health in Georgia, CTR. FOR REPROD. RTS. (June 2016), http://www.reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/Maternal-Health-and-Georgia-Fact-Sheet.pdf.
- <sup>51</sup> Maternal Health: Black Women in Texas, CTR. FOR REPROD. RTs. (Oct. 2016), <u>http://www.reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/Maternal-Health-and-Texas-Fact-Sheet.pdf</u>.
- <sup>52</sup> Maternal Health of Black Women in Louisiana, CTR. FOR REPROD. RTS. (Oct. 2016), http://www.reproductiverights.org/sites/crr.civicactions.net/files/documents/Maternal-Health-and-Louisiana-Fact-Sheet.pdf.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY ONE YEAR UPDATE, *supra* note 14, at 1.

- <sup>53</sup> Zoe Carpenter, What's Killing America's Black Infants, THE NATION (Feb. 15, 2017), <u>http://www.thenation.com/article/whats-killing-americas-black-infants/</u>.
- <sup>54</sup> MARIAN F. MACDORMAN & T.J. MATHEWS, CTR. FOR DISEASE CONTROL & PREVENTION NAT'L CTR. FOR HEALTH STATISTICS, RECENT TRENDS IN INFANT MORTALITY IN THE UNITED STATES 1(Oct. 2008), <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db09.pdf</u>.
- <sup>55</sup> Infant Mortality, CTR. FOR DISEASE CONTROL & PREVENTION, <u>http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/MaternalInfantHealth/InfantMortality.htm</u> (last updated Sept. 28, 2016).

<sup>56</sup> Id.

- <sup>57</sup> See World Economic Outlook, INT'L MONETARY FUND, 148 (Apr. 2016), http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2016/01/pdf/text.pdf.
- <sup>58</sup> See The World Factbook: Infant Mortality Rate, CENT. INTELLIGENCE AGENCY, <u>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/rankorder/2091rank.html</u> (last visited July 25, 2016).
- <sup>59</sup> Marian F. MacDorman & T.J. Mathews, Behind International Rankings of Infant Mortality: How the United States Compares with Europe, CTR. FOR DISEASE CONTROL & PREVENTION, NAT'L CTR. FOR HEALTH STATISTICS (Nov. 2009), <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db23.pdf</u>.
- <sup>60</sup> Fighting Premature Birth, MARCH OF DIMES, <u>http://www.marchofdimes.com/mission/prematurity-campaign.aspx</u> (last visited July 25, 2016).

<sup>61</sup> Id.

- <sup>62</sup> Id.
- <sup>63</sup> Child Health USA 2014, supra note 47, at 25.

<sup>64</sup> Denise Grady, Premature Births Are Fueling Higher Rates of Infant Mortality in U.S., Report Says, N.Y. TIMES (Nov. 4, 2009), <u>http://query.nytimes.com/gst/fullpage.html?res=9F02E4DD1439F937A35752C1A96F9C8B63&ref=infantmortality</u>.

<sup>65</sup> Sudden Unexpected Infant Death and Sudden Infant Death Syndrome: About SUID and SIDS, CTR. FOR DISEASE CONTROL & PREVENTION, <u>http://www.cdc.gov/sids/aboutsuidandsids.htm</u> (last updated June 8, 2016).

<sup>66</sup> Sudden Unexpected Infant Death and Sudden Infant Death Syndrome: Data and Statistics, CTR. For DISEASE CONTROL & PREVENTION, <u>http://www.cdc.gov/sids/data.htm</u> (last updated Feb. 8, 2016).

<sup>67</sup> Marian F. MacDorman et al., Understanding Racial and Ethnic Disparities in U.S. Infant Mortality Rates, 74 NAT'L DATA CTR. FOR HEALTH STATS. DATA BRIEF 5 (Sept. 2011), https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db74.pdf.

68 Grady, supra note 65.

<sup>69</sup> Id.

- <sup>70</sup> Infant Mortality and African Americans, U.S. DEP'T HEALTH & HUMAN SERV., <u>http://minorityhealth.hhs.gov/omh/content.aspx?lvl=3&lvllD=3021</u> (last updated Sept. 3, 2015).
- 71 **Id**.
- <sup>72</sup> Preterm Birth, CTRS. FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION, <u>http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/maternalinfanthealth/pretermbirth.htm</u> (last updated June 26, 2017).
- 73 Supra note 71.

<sup>75</sup> Zoe Carpenter, What's Killing America's Black Infants?, THE NATION (Feb. 15, 2017), http://www.thenation.com/article/whats-killing-americas-blackinfants/.

<sup>76</sup> Id.

77 Id.

<sup>78</sup> Id.

<sup>79</sup> Id.

- <sup>80</sup> Adolescent Pregnancy, World Health Org., <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs364/en/</u> (last updated Sept. 2014).
- <sup>81</sup> Id.
- <sup>82</sup> *Teen Pregnancy in the United States*, CTRS. FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION, http://www.cdc.gov/teenpregnancy/about/ (last updated May 9, 2017).
- <sup>83</sup> See Late or No Prenatal Care, CHILD TRENDS DATABANK, <u>http://www.childtrends.org/?indicators=late-or-no-prenatal-care</u> (last updated Dec. 2015).

<sup>84</sup> Id.

- <sup>85</sup> *Risk and Protective Factors*, YouTH.Gov, http://youth.gov/youth-topics/teen-pregnancy-prevention/risk-and-protective-factors (last visited July 26, 2017).
- <sup>86</sup> See Adolescent Pregnancy, supra note 81.
- <sup>87</sup> Li SmithBattle, Reducing Stigmitization of Teen Mothers, 38 Am. J. MATERN. CHILD NURS. July-Aug. 2013, 235-41 (2013).
- <sup>88</sup> LISA FUENTES ET AL., NAT'L LATINA INST. FOR REPROD. HEALTH, REMOVING STIGMA: TOWARDS A COMPLETE UNDERSTANDING OF YOUNG LATINAS' SEXUAL HEALTH 5 (2010), <u>http://latinainstitute.org/sites/default/files/NLIRH-HPWhite-5310-F2.pdf</u>.
- <sup>89</sup> Domestic Violence During Pregnancy, WOMEN'S COURAGE BLOG, <u>http://www.stanford.edu/group/womenscourage/Repro\_Latin/ekobash\_DVpregnancy\_Latin.html#\_ednref2</u> (last visited July 26, 2017).

90 **Id**.



<sup>74</sup> Id.

- <sup>91</sup> See The Relationship Between Intimate Partner Violence and Unintentional Pregnancy: Analysis of a National Sample from Colombia, GUTTMACHER INST. (Dec. 2004), http://www.guttmacher.org/about/journals/ipsrh/2004/relationship-between-intimate-partner-violence-and-unintendedpregnancy.
- <sup>92</sup> See Understanding and Addressing Violence Against Women: Health Consequences, WORLD HEALTH ORG. (2012), http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/77431/1/WHO\_RHR\_12.43\_eng.pdf.
- <sup>93</sup> Alytia Levendosky, Domestic Abuse may Affect Children in the Womb, MSU TODAY (Dec. 16, 2014), <u>http://msutoday.msu.edu/news/2014/domestic-abuse-may-affect-children-in-womb/.</u>
- <sup>94</sup> CTR. on REPROD. RTS. AND JUST., BRINGING FAMILIES OUT OF 'CAP'TIVITY: THE PATH TOWARD ABOLISHING WELFARE FAMILY CAPS 1 (Aug. 2016), http://www.law.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/2016-Caps\_FA2.pdf.

<sup>95</sup> Id.

96 *Id.* at 5.

97 *Id.* at 7.

98 Id. at 9.

- <sup>99</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY ONE YEAR UPDATE, supra note 14, at 5.
- <sup>100</sup> Maternal, Infant, and Child Health: Morbidity and Mortality, HEALTHY PEOPLE 2020, http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives/topic/maternal-infant-and-child-health/objectives (last updated July 26, 2017) (see subsection MICH-1.3 for the goal on infant deaths and subsection MICH-5 for maternal mortality).
- <sup>101</sup> Id. (See subsection MICH-10 for targets to help with the proportion of pregnant women who receive early and adequate prenatal care.)

<sup>102</sup> Carol Sakala, U.S. Health Care Reform Legislation Offers Major New Benefits to Childbearing Women and Newborns, 37 BIRTH 337–40 (Dec. 2010),

http://transform.childbirthconnection.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/PPACAmaternity.pdf. <sup>103</sup> Preventive Services Covered Under the Affordable Care Act, U.S. DEP'T HEALTH & HUM. SERV.,

http://www.hhs.gov/healthcare/facts/factsheets/2010/07/preventive-services-list.html (last updated Sept. 27, 2012).

- <sup>104</sup> Essential Health Benefits, USA.Gov., <u>https://www.healthcare.gov/glossary/essential-health-benefits/</u> (last visited April 1, 2017).
- <sup>105</sup> Jesse Lee, The Affordable Care Act -- Benefits and Weights Being Lifted, WHITE HOUSE BLOG (June 22, 2010, 3:41 PM), <u>http://www.whitehouse.gov/blog/2010/06/22/affordable-care-act-benefits-and-weights-being-lifted (last visited April 1, 2017)</u>.

<sup>106</sup> David S. Hilzenrath, Papers Show Insurers Limited Coverage for Acne, Pregnancy, WASH. POST (Sept. 19, 2009), <u>http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2009/09/18/AR2009091803501.html</u>. See also FAQs About Portability of Health Coverage and HIPAA, U.S. DEP'T OF LABOR, <u>http://www.dol.gov/ebsa/faqs/faq\_consumer\_hipaa.html</u> (last visited July 25, 2016) [hereinafter FAQs About Portability].

- <sup>107</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY, supra note 16, at 6.
- <sup>108</sup> FAQs About Portability, supra note 107.
- <sup>109</sup> Haeyoun Park, The Outcomes of the Many Republican Health Plans are Not So Different, N.Y. TIMES (July 24, 2017),
- http://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2017/07/24/us/republican-health-bill-versions.html.

<sup>110</sup> Id.

- <sup>111</sup> Press Release, Vote Smart, HHS Secretary Sebelius Announces the Availability of Funding for the Support of Pregnant and Parenting Teens and Women (July 2, 2010), <u>http://votesmart.org/public-statement/528111/hhs-secretary-sebelius-announces-the-availability-of-funding-for-the-support-of-pregnant-and-parenting-teens-and-women#.U8BXJJRdX8Q</u>.
- <sup>112</sup> Press Release, Health Res. and Servs. Admin., HHS Announces Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting Program Funding Opportunity (June 1, 2011), <u>http://www.hrsa.gov/about/news/pressreleases/110601homevisiting.html</u>.
- <sup>113</sup> Affordable Care Act Maternal, Infant, and Early Childhood Home Visiting Program, U.S. DEP'T OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVS.: HEALTH RES. AND SERVS. ADMIN., <u>http://www.hrsa.gov/grants/manage/homevisiting/</u> (last visited July 26, 2017).
- <sup>114</sup>Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Health and Human Servs., HHS Awards \$27 Million for the Support of Pregnant And Parenting Teens and Women (Sept. 28, 2010), <u>http://wayback.archive-it.org/3926/20131018160544/http://www.hhs.gov/news/press/2010pres/09/20100928d.html#</u>.

<sup>115</sup> Id.

- <sup>116</sup> About PAF, HHS.Gov, <u>https://www.hhs.gov/ash/oah/grant-programs/pregnancy-assistance-fund/about/index.html</u> (last visited July 26, 2017).
- <sup>117</sup> Michael K. Gusmano, Undocumented Immigrants in the United States: U.S. Health Policy and Access to Care, HASTINGS CTR. (Oct. 3, 2012), http://www.undocumentedpatients.org/issuebrief/health-policy-and-access-to-care/.
- <sup>118</sup> Press Release, U.S. Dep't of Health and Hum. Servs., HHS Announces \$101 Million in Affordable Care Act Funding to 164 New Community Health Centers (May 5, 2015), <u>http://www.hhs.gov/news/press/2015pres/05/20150505a.html</u>.

<sup>119</sup> Id. <sup>120</sup> Id.

- 120 10
- <sup>121</sup> Jamie Santa Cruz, Call the Midwife, THE ATLANTIC (June 12, 2015), http://www.theatlantic.com/health/archive/2015/06/midwives-are-making-acomeback/395456/.

<sup>122</sup> Id.

<sup>123</sup> Planned Home Birth, AM. COLL. OF OBSTETRICIANS AND GYNECOLOGISTS (Aug. 2016), http://www.acog.org/Resources-And-Publications/Committee-Opinions/Committee-on-Obstetric-Practice/Planned-Home-Birth.



- <sup>124</sup> See Frequently Asked Questions, River VALLEY MIDWIVES, <u>http://rivervalleymidwives.com/faqs.html</u> (last visited July 26, 2017).
- <sup>125</sup> 2016 ACNM Benchmarking Report Selected Outcomes, Am. C. NURSE MIDWIVES (2016),

http://www.midwife.org/acnm/files/ccLibraryFiles/Filename/00000006614/2016-selected-outcome-report-all-practices.pdf. <sup>126</sup> *Id*.

<sup>127</sup> Id.

<sup>128</sup> Ruth Zielinski, Kelly Ackerson, & Lisa Kane Low, *Planned Home Birth: Benefits, Risks, and Opportunities*, INT'LJ. WOMENS HEALTH (Apr. 8, 2015), http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4399594/.

<sup>129</sup> Id.

<sup>130</sup> Christa Kelleher & Dorothy Brewin, Caring for Women: A Profile of the Midwifery Workforce in Massachusetts, CTR. FOR WOMEN IN POLITICS AND PUB. POLICY PUBL'NS, 5 (Apr. 2011), http://scholarworks.umb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1017&context=cwppp\_pubs.

<sup>131</sup> Id.

<sup>132</sup> Id.

- <sup>133</sup> A. 8117-A, 2010 Leg., Reg. Sess. (N.Y. 2010).
- <sup>134</sup> DEADLY DELIVERY ONE YEAR UPDATE, supra note 14, at 23.

<sup>135</sup> Id.

<sup>136</sup> See Deborah Walker, Barbara Lannen, & Debra Rossie, *Midwifery Practice and Education: Current Challenges and Opportunities*, OJIN: THE ONLINE J. OF ISSUES IN NURSING (May 2, 2014),

http://www.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/ANAMarketplace/ANAPeriodicals/OJIN/TableofContents/Vol-19-2014/No2-May-2014/Midwifery-Practice-and-Education.html.

- <sup>137</sup> See State by State, MIDWIVES ALLIANCE NORTH AM., <u>http://mana.org/about-midwives/state-by-state</u> (last visited July 26, 2017).
- <sup>138</sup> Elisabeth Rosenthal, American Way of Birth, Costliest in the World, N.Y. TIMES (June 30, 2013), <u>http://www.nytimes.com/2013/07/01/health/american-way-of-birth-costliest-in-the-world.html?src=me&ref=general.</u>
- <sup>139</sup> See Benefits, MEDICAID.Gov, http://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid/benefits/list-of-benefits/index.html <u>https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid-chip-program-information/by-topics/benefits/medicaid-benefits.html</u> (last visited July 26, 2017).